RECEIVED

Jun 11 2026

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Colleton County

Honorable Marvin H Dukes, III, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JESSE SEBASTIAN BROUGHTON,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2025-000621

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SARAH E. SHIPE
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the trial court comment on the facts—in violation of article V, section 21 of the South Carolina Constitution—when it instructed the jury it could infer Appellant intended to distribute the marijuana found in his car because he possessed more than one ounce of the drug?
2. Can a defendant raise on appeal without objection below a challenge to an unconstitutional comment on the facts in a jury instruction as the Supreme Court held in *State v. Orr*, 128 S.C. 279, 122 S.E. 771 (1924)?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 11, 2024, a Colleton County grand jury indicted Appellant for possession with intent to distribute marijuana. R. 138. On March 24, 2025, Appellant's case was called before the honorable Marvin H. Dukes, III, and a jury. R. 1. Matthew Walker represented Appellant. R. 1. Jillian Contestabile and Julie Keeney prosecuted for the state. R. 1.

The jury found Appellant guilty as indicted. R. 123:8-11. Judge Dukes issued a five-year sentence suspended upon the service of two years in prison followed by three years of probation. R. 133:10-21.

This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On March 30, 2023, Officer Jermaine Smith stopped Appellant for speeding. R. 30:4-17. When Smith approached Appellant, he asked if he knew why he was being stopped. Appellant quickly admitted to Smith he was speeding. R. 38:8-14; State's Ex. 1, at 3:29-3:40. After a short conversation, Appellant disclosed he had marijuana in the car and consented to the officer searching his vehicle. R. 33: 5-8; State's Ex. 1, at 3:54. He had approximately 7.5 ounces of marijuana. R. 64:8-13. Smith also collected approximately eight thousand dollars and empty packages with the "symbol of marijuana" on them. R. 33:25, 36:9-10.

At trial the only question for the jury to decide was whether Appellant intended to distribute this marijuana or rather intended it for his personal use. Appellant's entire defense was that he was guilty only of simple possession and not possession with intent to distribute. During opening statements, defense counsel told the jury, "[Appellant] and I both want and expect you to find him guilty," but of only possession of marijuana. R. 24:14-22, 28:18-29:6.

During closing the solicitor argued the state showed "intent to distribute based off three things: money in [Appellant's] pocket, 215 grams worth of marijuana, and 15 empty baggies." R. 82:25-83:4. In response, defense counsel argued there was no intention to distribute the drugs, expressly admitting Appellant possessed them:

They can prove possession, and we admit possession because the facts are he was stopped with illegal drugs in Colleton County. It's definitely him. . . . He's not disputing that he had it. . . . But the state wants to go one step further and have you start guessing and being a mind reader and saying maybe or probably [he intended to distribute the marijuana.]

R. 87:7-17. Counsel further contended the state was requiring the jury to "guess" what Appellant's intent was rather than weigh the facts as shown by the evidence. R. 96:7-97:3.

As to possession with intent to distribute marijuana, the trial court instructed the jury:

The defendant is charged with possession with intent to distribute marijuana. The State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant possessed marijuana with the intent to distribute it. To prove possession, the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt the defendant had both the power and the intent to control the disposition or use of the marijuana. . . .

The state must also prove beyond a reasonable doubt the defendant intended to distribute the marijuana. Intent may be shown by acts and conduct of the defendant and other circumstances from which you naturally and reasonably infer intent. In determining whether the defendant had the intent to distribute the marijuana, you may consider the circumstances surrounding the defendant's alleged possession. You may consider the amount of the substance alleged to have been possessed; the manner in which it was allegedly possessed; the place where it was allegedly possessed; and other factors which you consider to be important. You must find the defendant did not intend to have the marijuana solely for his own use.

Possession of more than 28 grams or 1 ounce of marijuana creates a permissive inference that the defendant possessed the marijuana with intent to distribute it. This permissive inference does not relieve the State from proving beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant had the intent to distribute. It is simply an evidentiary fact to be taken into consideration by you along with other evidence in the case and to be given the weight you decide it should have. If you find the State has failed to prove beyond a reasonable doubt the defendant is guilty of possession with intent to distribute marijuana, you may consider whether the State has proved beyond a reasonable doubt the defendant is guilty of possession of marijuana. Possession does not require an intent to distribute marijuana.

R. 107:24-109:21.

The jury began deliberating at 2:32 p.m. R. 115:15. At 3:53 p.m. the jury asked, "can we get a printout of the law as it is written for possession with intent to distribute." R. 115:16-20; 135. After discussion the court answered: "Except as authorized by this article it shall be unlawful for any person: to . . . possess with the intent to manufacture, distribute, dispense, deliver, or purchase a controlled substance or a controlled substance analogue. In addition, you

must consider that the parties have stipulated that marijuana is a controlled substance under the above act." R. 115:17-120:2; 136. Three hours later the jury returned and found Appellant guilty of possession with intent to distribute marijuana. R. 123:1-11.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Whether a given jury charge is an unconstitutional comment on the facts should be reviewed on appeal de novo as a question of law. The question is whether the charge given violates Article V, section 21 of the South Carolina Constitution. That section is a limitation on the judicial authority of this state, and as such its application raises a question of law this Court reviews de novo. See *State v. Frasier*, 437 S.C. 625, 633-34, 879 S.E.2d 762, 766 (2022) (holding constitutional criminal procedure issues are reviewed de novo); *State v. Miller*, 441 S.C. 106, 119, 893 S.E.2d 306, 313 (2023) (extending *Frasier* to voluntariness of a confession); cf. *Powell v. Keel*, 433 S.C. 457, 462, 860 S.E.2d 344, 346 (2021) (interpretation of a statute is reviewed de novo).

ARGUMENT

I. Trial courts should never instruct the jury that possession of a given weight of drugs could raise an inference the defendant intended to distribute them.

Subsection 44-53-370(a) of the South Carolina Code (2018) prohibits, among other things, the possession of controlled substances with an intent to distribute them. Subsection (d)(5) provides that a person who "possess[es] more than . . . twenty-eight grams or one ounce of marijuana . . . is prima facie guilty of [a] violation of subsection (a) of this section." § 44-53-370. Apparently relying on this provision, courts have crafted a jury instruction like the one given in this case:

Possession of more than 28 grams or 1 ounce of marijuana creates a permissive inference that the defendant possessed the marijuana with intent to distribute it. This permissive inference does not relieve the State from proving beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant had the intent to distribute. It is simply an evidentiary fact to be taken into consideration by you along with other evidence in the case and to be given the weight you decide it should have.

R. 109:8-15. The instruction is a mistake, and the trial court never should have given this charge because it is an unconstitutional comment on the facts and unwarranted by the statute.

A. An instruction that the jury can infer an intent to distribute based on weight is an unconstitutional comment on the facts.

"Judges shall not charge juries in respect to matters of fact, but shall declare the law." S.C. Const. art. V, § 21; *see State v. Brown*, 443 S.C. 196, 198-199, 904 S.E.2d 448, 449-50 (2024) (collecting cases). It is never proper for the court to instruct a jury that a given fact creates an "inference"—even a "permissive inference"—an element of a crime has been satisfied. *Pantovich v. State*, 427 S.C. 555, 562, 832 S.E.2d 596, 600 (2019) ("The modern trend . . . has cast doubt upon the validity of charges instructing juries on how to interpret and use evidence."); *see Brown*, 443 S.C. at 198-199, 904 S.E.2d at 449-50 (inferred malice instruction); *State v.*

Smith, 430 S.C. 226, 229, 845 S.E.2d 495, 496 (2020) (same); *State v. Burdette*, 427 S.C. 490, 494, 832 S.E.2d 575, 577 (2019) (same); *Pantovich*, 427 S.C. at 562, 832 S.E.2d at 600 ("good character" charge); *State v. Stukes*, 416 S.C. 493, 498-99, 787 S.E.2d 480, 482-83 (2016) (statutory rule that criminal sexual conduct "victim's testimony need not be corroborated with additional evidence"); *State v. Witherspoon*, 418 S.C. 641, 642, 795 S.E.2d 685, 686 (2016) (applying *Stukes*); *State v. Cheeks*, 401 S.C. 322, 327, 737 S.E.2d 480, 483 (2013) (holding improper charge that "actual knowledge [of the possession of drugs] is strong evidence of intent to control its disposition or use." (alteration original)); *State v. Belcher*, 385 S.C. 597, 601, 685 S.E.2d 802, 804 (2009) (inferred malice charge).

For drug charges, the leading comment-on-the-facts case is *State v. Stewart*, 433 S.C. 382, 858 S.E.2d 808 (2021). In *Stewart* the Court unequivocally held, "The jury charge instructing a jury it may infer knowledge or possession when a substance is found on property under the defendant's control should no longer be given." 433 S.C. at 391, 858 S.E.2d at 813. Giving that charge is error because "the trial court has directly commented upon facts in evidence, elevated those facts, and emphasized them to the jury." 433 S.C. at 392, 858 S.E.2d at 813 (quoting *Burdette*, 427 S.C. at 502, 832 S.E.2d at 582. In every case, "[i]t remains the burden of the State to convince the jury the defendant had the requisite knowledge and intent." *Stewart*, 433 S.C. at 389, 858 S.E.2d at 811.

Here, as in *Stewart*, the jury charge was an unconstitutional comment on the facts because with it "the trial court has directly commented upon facts in evidence, elevated those facts, and emphasized them to the jury." *Id.* (quoting *Burdette*, 427 S.C. at 502, 832 S.E.2d at 582). This inference instruction "unduly emphasizes" the state's evidence, and it "deprives the jury of its prerogative both to draw inferences and to weigh evidence." *Id.* (quoting *Cheeks*, 401

S.C. at 328, 737 S.E.2d at 484). Instructing the jury that weight can imply an intent to distribute is not materially different from the *Stewart* instruction that ownership of the property where drugs are found can imply possession. They both directly tell the jury that it could infer an element of the offense if it finds certain other facts. That is not proper.

In a similar way, the Court in *State v. Cheeks* overturned prior case law approving the trial court's instruction that "actual knowledge of the presence of a drug is strong evidence of intent to control its disposition or use." 401 S.C. at 328-29, 737 S.E.2d at 484 (overturning *Solomon v. State*, 313 S.C. 526, 529, 443 S.E.2d 540, 542 (1994)). Again, it is no significant extension to conclude courts should not instruct juries that "[p]ossession of more than twenty-eight grams or one ounce of marijuana creates a permissive inference that the defendant possessed the marijuana with intent to distribute it." In a more general way, these modern cases forbidding such instructions reflect a longstanding facet of the law: specific intent crimes must be carefully charged to the jury to avoid misunderstandings and improperly prejudicing them towards a finding of intent. See 16 Corpus Juris, *Criminal Law* § 2390, at 985 (1918) (stating general rule that presumption of intention for one's actions should not be charged "where a specific intent is the gist of the offense charged").

Simply put, there was no valid basis for the trial court to tell the jury this inference may arise because that is something it cannot and need not do. See *Burdette*, 427 S.C. at 503, 832 S.E.2d at 583 ("It is axiomatic that some matters appropriate for jury argument are not proper for charging. 'Do jurors need the court's permission to infer something? The answer is, of course not.'" (quoting *State v. Belcher*, 385 S.C. 597, 612 n.9, 685 S.E.2d 802, 810 n.9 (2009))). "Simply because certain facts may be considered by the jury as evidence of guilt . . . , it does not follow . . . juries should be charged that these facts are probative of guilt." *Cheeks*, 401 S.C. at

328, 737 S.E.2d at 484. By instructing the jury that a certain weight of drugs may raise an inference the defendant intended to distribute them, the trial court has directly commented on facts in evidence, emphasized those facts, told the jury how to weigh the evidence, and placed its thumb on the scale towards a finding of intent and guilt. Article V, section 21 forbids such instructions. Even if "[t]he inference is a valid one for the jury to draw . . . [t]he *jury instruction* explaining the inference . . . is improper." *Stewart*, 433 S.C. at 391, 858 S.E.2d at 813 (emphasis in original).

B. It is unimportant that this inference is in some way related to section 44-53-370 because it is unconstitutional regardless, and the instruction is not actually warranted by that statute.

i. *Even if the instruction is required by section 44-53-370, article V, section 21 cannot be overruled by statute.*

There is only one legitimate difference between the instruction struck down in *Stewart* and the instruction here: this instruction has some relation to section 44-53-370. It is in all other respects legally indistinguishable, for the reasons explained above. In either event, the trial court has "directly commented upon facts in evidence, elevated those facts, and emphasized them to the jury." *Burdette*, 427 S.C. at 502, 832 S.E.2d at 582. It has instructed the jury how it could evaluate the evidence and what inference it might draw. That is an unnecessary, unconstitutional comment on the facts. *See Cheeks*, 401 S.C. at 328, 737 S.E.2d at 484.

Even assuming the instruction is warranted or required by the statute—an assumption challenged *infra*—this instruction is still unconstitutional. The General Assembly has no authority to abrogate or minimize provisions of the constitution, and it cannot grant to trial courts a power deprived by the constitution. If it would be unconstitutional to give this instruction absent the statute—and it obviously would be—then it is unconstitutional despite the statute. *See*

State v. Stukes, 416 S.C. 493, 499, 787 S.E.2d 480, 483 (2016) (holding instruction based on S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-657 (2015) is an unconstitutional comment on the facts).

ii. *This Court should overrule State v. Andrews*, 324 S.C. 516, 479 S.E.2d 808 (Ct. App. 1996), *because the instruction is now bad law and was never warranted by the statute.*

Even if this Court would conclude that the trial court can comment on the facts of a case if provided by statute, that would not save this instruction because it is not actually required by the statute.

In *State v. Andrews*, in an opinion written by Judge Anderson, this Court declared section 44-53-370 created "a permissive inference to be considered by the jury in evaluating guilt or innocence in cases where the defendant possesses a certain quantity of marijuana." 324 S.C. at 522, 479 S.E.2d at 812. Other than quotation of the statute, no analysis explained how the statutory language created a "permissive inference" *or* why it should "be considered by the jury." *Id.* *Andrews* continued to hold the trial court erred by charging the jury "that possession of 28 grams or one ounce of marijuana is prima facie evidence that the subsection that I just read to you was violated." *Andrews*, 324 S.C. at 526, 479 S.E.2d at 812, 814. Relying on *State v. Neva*, 300 S.C. 450, 452, 388 S.E.2d 791, 792 (1990), this Court held the "proper method" for the charge would have been as a permissive inference. 324 S.C. 516, 525, 479 S.E.2d at 813-14. The Court then continued, "[f]or the edification of the Bench and Bar," and "suggest[ed]" the permissive inference charge that is often used today—the charge given by the trial court here, with only minimal difference.¹

¹ The trial court here actually omitted one sentence from the charge suggested in *Andrews*: "The resulting implication only permits rather than requires the jury to infer a violation of the section." 324 S.C. at 526, 479 S.E.2d at 814; R. 109: 8-15. It is otherwise functionally identical.

State v. Andrews was wrong to instruct trial courts to give this charge, and subsequent comment-on-the-facts case law has eroded any plausible propriety of the instruction. See *Pantovich*, 427 S.C. at 562, 832 S.E.2d at 600 ("The modern trend . . . has cast doubt upon the validity of charges instructing juries on how to interpret and use evidence."). As explained, *Andrews* is now bad law in light of *Stewart*, *Cheeks*, *Stukes*, and *Burdette* and its progeny. Further, as noted, the Court in *Andrews* gave no reason for concluding the statute requires this permissive inference instruction, and no reason obviously appears from the statute.²

Most likely, the statute was written for one of two purposes. First, it could have been an attempt to establish a rebuttable presumption of intent based on weight. That, however, has already been held improper by the Supreme Court as it is impermissible burden shifting. *State v.*

² It is likely *Andrews* was premised on a similar mistake the Supreme Court corrected in *Stewart*. The Court's specific holding in *Stewart* explained it had previously erred in *State v. Adams*, 291 S.C. 132, 135, 352 S.E.2d 483, 486 (1987), by instructing trial courts to instruct juries there is a permissive inference of possession based on ownership of property. *Adams* had held the "proper charge on constructive possession is to instruct the jury that the defendant's knowledge and possession may be inferred if the substance was found on premises under his control." 291 S.C. at 135, 352 S.E.2d at 486 (first citing *State v. Hudson*, 277 S.C. 200, 203, 284 S.E.2d 773, 775 (1981); then citing *State v. Brown*, 267 S.C. 311, 315-17, 227 S.E.2d 674, 676-77 (1976)). *Stewart* overruled *Adams* because it incorrectly relied on cases on appeal from the denial of a directed verdict, which considers a totally different question from whether a jury charge is proper. *Stewart*, 433 S.C. at 391, 858 S.E.2d at 812-13 ("Our reliance on *Hudson* and *Brown* was misplaced because neither case approves of the trial court explaining the inference of knowledge and possession to the jury.").

A similar mistake was made in *Andrews* when it approved of this charge. The *Andrews* Court specifically relied on the "proper method" of giving such instructions as stated in *State v. Neva*, which in turn relied, in part, on the now-overturned *Adams*. *Andrews*, 324 S.C. at 525, 479 S.E.2d at 813-14 (citing *Neva*, 300 S.C. at 452, 388 S.E.2d at 792). In fairness to the *Andrews* Court, it was considering the charge as a burden-shifting issue, and relying on *Sandstrom v. Montana*, 442 U.S. 510, 524 (1979), it invalidated the charge given in that case as unconstitutional burden-shifting. *Andrews*, 324 S.C. at 526, 479 S.E.2d at 814. It did not consider the charge as a comment on the facts. *Id.* Nonetheless, section 44-53-370 provides for a prima facie showing of intent to distribute that will, when demonstrated, always suffice to defeat a motion for a directed verdict. It goes no further, however, and that part of *Andrews* instructing courts to give this permissive inference should be overruled.

Key, 282 S.C. 413, 414, 319 S.E.2d 338, 338 (1984) (first citing *State v. Legette*, 282 S.C. 11, 12, 316 S.E.2d 411, 411 (1984), then citing *State v. Cooper*, 279 S.C. 301, 302, 306 S.E.2d 598, 599 (1983)); *Taylor v. State*, 312 S.C. 179, 181, 439 S.E.2d 820, 821 (1993); *see generally Sandstrom v. Montana*, 442 U.S. 510, 520-24 (1979) (addressing the constitutionality of burden-shifting jury instructions.

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