RECEIVED

Jun 11 2026

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Colleton County
Honorable Marvin H. Dukes, III, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2025-000621

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

JESSE SEBASTIAN BROUGHTON,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ISAAC McDUFFIE STONE, III
Solicitor, Fourteenth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 1880
Bluffton, SC 29910
(843) 255-5880

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

own admission—has never been followed or applied in any other cases since it was decided. Contrary to Appellant’s contentions, his newly-conceived challenge to the trial judge’s jury instructions was patently not properly preserved for appellate review because, pursuant to well-established South Carolina law, an issue—including a constitutional one—must have first been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge before it can properly be raised to and considered by one of our state’s appellate courts. Since that did not happen here and, instead, defense counsel himself suggested the trial judge include the permissive language from the Andrews decision as part of his jury instructions,¹² any issue with the jury charge was waived and cannot appropriately be considered or addressed for the first time on appeal. Appellant’s conviction and sentence should be affirmed.

In South Carolina, issue preservation requirements are a fundamental component of appellate procedure. Gaddy v. Douglass, 359 S.C. 329, 350, 597 S.E.2d 12, 23 (Ct. App. 2004). The key purpose of those requirements is “to give the trial court a fair opportunity to rule on the issues, and thus provide [the appellate court] with a platform for meaningful appellate review.” Queen’s Grant II Horizontal Prop. Regime v. Greenwood Dev. Corp., 368 S.C. 342, 373, 628 S.E.2d 902, 919 (Ct. App. 2006). Significantly, the application of issue preservation requirements ensures the trial court has an opportunity “to rule properly after it considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments.” I’On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000); see Queen’s Grant, 368 S.C. at 373, 628 S.E.2d at 919 (“The rationale for the [error preservation] rule is that until the trial court considers the matter and

complaining about it on appeal but nevertheless found that rule “must give way to the constitutional prohibition as to a charge on the facts.” Id. at ___, 122 S.E. at 771.

¹² Tellingly, Appellant never once acknowledges in his thorough appellate brief defense counsel was the one who asked the trial judge to rely on the Andrews decision as a guide for his jury instructions. (App. Br. pp. 1-21).

makes a ruling, an appellate court is unable to find error.”); cf. Unemployment Compensation Comm’n of Alaska v. Aragan, 329 U.S. 143, 155 (1946) (“A reviewing court usurps the agency’s function when it sets aside the administrative determination upon a ground not theretofore presented and deprives the Commission of an opportunity to consider the matter, make its ruling, and state the reasons for its action.”).

For an issue to be preserved for appellate review pursuant to our state’s well-established issue preservation requirements, the issue must have been: (1) raised to and ruled upon by the trial court; (2) raised by the appellant; (3) raised in a timely manner; and (4) raised to the trial court with sufficient specificity. State v. Rogers, 361 S.C. 178, 183, 603 S.E.2d 910, 912-913 (Ct. App. 2004). If an issue—including a constitutional one—is not presented to and ruled upon by the trial judge, it cannot appropriately be raised for the first time to the appellate court. State v. Freiburger, 366 S.C. 125, 135, 620 S.E.2d 737, 742 (2005); see In re Care and Treatment of Corley, 365 S.C. 252, 258, 616 S.E.2d 441, 444 (Ct. App. 2005) (“Constitutional issues, like most others, must be raised to and ruled on by the trial court to be preserved for appeal.”). Critically, on appeal, an appellant is limited solely to the grounds raised at trial, and South Carolina appellate courts simply do not engage in plain error review. State v. Patterson, 324 S.C. 5, 19, 482 S.E.2d 760, 767 (1997); see State v. Sheppard, 391 S.C. 415, 421, 706 S.E.2d 16, 19 (2011) (“[T]he plain error rule does not apply in South Carolina state courts.”); State v. Gee, 262 S.C. 373, 379, 204 S.E.2d 727, 729 (1974) (“Only matter that has been ruled on below can be reviewed[.]”); State v. Thomason, 355 S.C. 278, 288, 584 S.E.2d 143, 148 (Ct. App. 2003) (“[A] party cannot argue one theory at trial and a different theory on appeal.”).

Beyond those general issue preservation requirements, the South Carolina Rules of Criminal Procedure also provide specific guidance for raising and preserving an objection to a

jury charge. See Rule 20, SCRCrimP (outlining the requirements for requesting jury instructions and objecting to a jury charge). Specifically, pursuant to our criminal procedure rules, a defendant must object to the jury charge as given or request an additional charge when afforded the opportunity to do so to properly preserve an objection to a charge. State v. Stone, 285 S.C. 386, 387, 330 S.E.2d 286, 287 (1985); see Rule 20(a), SCRCrimP (“All requests for legal instructions to the jury shall be submitted at the close of the evidence, or at such earlier time as the trial judge shall reasonably direct.”); Rule 20(b), SCRCrimP (“Notwithstanding any request for legal instructions, the parties shall be given the opportunity to object to the giving or failure to give an instruction before the jury retires, but out of the hearing of the jury. Any objection shall state distinctly the matter objected to and the grounds for objection.”). Thus, the rule in South Carolina “is *firmly* established that failure to object to a charge, or failure to request an additional charge when the opportunity is afforded, constitutes a waiver of any right to complain on appeal of an alleged error in the charge.” State v. Williams, 266 S.C. 325, 335, 223 S.E.2d 38, 43 (1976) (emphasis added); see Rule 20(b), SCRCrimP (“Failure to object in accordance with this rule shall constitute a waiver of objection.”); cf. State v. Johnson, 315 S.C. 485, 487, 445 S.E.2d 637, 638 (1994) (“Johnson next alleges that the trial judge’s instruction on circumstantial evidence violates due process. However, Johnson did not object to the jury charge. Therefore, this issue has not been preserved for appeal.”).

With those basic principles in mind, the matter at the heart of the case sub judice rests on a contention the trial judge violated the constitutional prohibition on judicial comments on the facts by instructing the jury an intent to distribute could permissibly be inferred from an individual’s possession of more than twenty-eight grams or one ounce of marijuana. However, during trial, defense counsel did not raise such a contention to the trial judge at any point,

including either before or after the trial judge presented the now-challenged instruction to the jury. See In re Walter M., 386 S.C. 387, 392, 688 S.E.2d 133, 136 (Ct. App. 2009) (“Generally, an issue must be both raised to and ruled upon by the trial court in order to be preserved for appellate review.”). Instead of doing so, defense counsel personally asked the trial judge to add the language from the Andrews decision about the permissive nature of the inference that can be drawn from possession of a certain amount of marijuana to his jury instructions on the indicted offense. See State v. Brown, 389 S.C. 84, 95, 697 S.E.2d 622, 628 (Ct. App. 2010) (“Counsel got the relief asked for and cannot complain on appeal.”); State v. Carlson, 363 S.C. 586, 595, 611 S.E.2d 283, 287 (Ct. App. 2005) (“A party cannot complain of an error which his own conduct induced.”). And, after the trial judge did just that, defense counsel was afforded an opportunity to raise any objections he may have had to the jury instructions as presented and expressly affirmed he had none. See State v. Brown, 402 S.C. 119, 125, 740 S.E.2d 493, 496 (2013) (holding Brown’s issue with a jury instruction was not preserved for appellate review when Brown explicitly stated to the trial judge he had no objection to it); State v. Rios, 388 S.C. 335, 342, 696 S.E.2d 608, 612 (Ct. App. 2010) (“Even after the trial court specifically asked if there were any objections to the charges given, Rios responded, ‘None.’ By failing to contemporaneously object to the jury charges, Rios has waived his right to allege error on appeal.”). Thus, *none* of the arguments currently being raised on appeal in support of Appellant’s newly-conceived challenge to the propriety of the trial judge’s jury instructions were ever raised to or ruled upon by the trial judge, and, in fact, those arguments are directly at odds with what defense counsel himself asked the trial judge to do during trial. See State v. Baker, 390 S.C. 56, 65, 700 S.E.2d 440, 444 (Ct. App. 2010) (“Baker cannot now add a constitutional

claim on appeal because he cannot raise one ground to the trial court and a different ground on appeal.”).

Despite the glaring issue preservation problems that obviously exist under such circumstances, Appellant maintains his newly-advanced issue with the trial judge’s jury instructions should now be addressed on appeal despite having never been presented to the trial judge because, pursuant to the Orr decision from 1924,¹³ “an unconstitutional comment on the facts can” purportedly “be raised for the first time [since] it is a limitation on the judicial power itself.” (App. Br. p. 16). Importantly though, since Orr was decided, our Supreme Court *has* expressly and consistently found our state’s issue preservation requirements apply to a claim a

¹³ For what it’s worth, the court that decided Orr would *not* have considered the challenged jury instruction from Appellant’s case to constitute an unconstitutional comment on the facts because—at least at that point in time—it was not considered inappropriate for a trial judge to instruct the jury on the different conclusions that could be drawn from a particular fact in the event the jury found such a fact had been established by the evidence presented. See State v. Clamp, 225 S.C. 89, 98, 80 S.E.2d 918, 922 (1954) (“Stating a legal conclusion which would result if the jury found certain facts is not a charge on the facts.”); State v. Higgins, 215 S.C. 153, 158, 54 S.E.2d 553, 555 (1949) (instructing a trial judge “giving illustrations with respect to deducing a conclusion from facts and circumstances, but making no reference to any disputed fact, except in a hypothetical way” does not constitute an unconstitutional comment on the facts); Norris v. Clinkscales, 74 S.C. 488, ___, 25 S.E. 797, 807-810 (1896) (explaining a trial judge does not violate the constitutional prohibition on comments on the facts by stating the legal effect of certain facts, “point[ing] out the different conclusions which might be drawn from them,” or identifying “the inquiries they would naturally give rise to” and further instructing: “We are clearly of the opinion that under [the constitutional provision prohibiting judicial comments on the facts], as it now reads, a judge may, in declaring the law applicable to the case, base that law upon hypothetical findings of fact by the jury, and instruct the jury that, if they believe so and so from the evidence they have heard, then such and such will be the legal result. In so doing, if he be careful not to repeat any of the testimony, nor to intimate directly or indirectly what is in evidence, he will be chargeable neither with stating the testimony, nor with charging in respect to matters of fact.”); see also S.C. Const. art. V, § 21 (“Judges shall not charge juries in respect to matters of fact, but shall declare the law.”); cf. State v. Gallman, 79 S.C. 229, ___, 60 S.E. 682, 686 (1908) (concluding the trial judge did not present an unconstitutional charge on the facts by instructing the jurors “if you find from the testimony in this case that the defendant slew the deceased, and slew him because of some wrong that the deceased had done him, previous wrong, some slanderous report deceased had put into execution about him, and that that was a prime cause of the act, and he slew him for it, he is guilty of murder”).

jury instruction constitutes an unconstitutional comment on the facts. See State v. Holland, 261 S.C. 488, 503, 201 S.E.2d 118, 126 (1973) (“If the appellant thought the foregoing charge violated Art. V, Sec. 26 of the Constitution, counsel should have made timely objection upon such ground. No such objection was interposed at the trial and it cannot be raised for the first time on appeal.”); Lundy v. Lititz Mut. Ins. Co., 232 S.C. 1, 10, 100 S.E.2d 544, 548 (1957) (“If appellant thought these instructions violated [the constitutional prohibition on comments on the facts], which we are inclined to think they did, counsel should have made timely objection when the jury was excused at the conclusion of the main charge. They waived the objection by failing to do so.” (citations omitted)); see also State v. Lemire, 406 S.C. 558, 573, 753 S.E.2d 247, 255 (Ct. App. 2013) (“As to Lemire’s arguments that the charge was redundant, confusing, and *tantamount to a charge on the facts*, these concerns were neither raised to nor ruled upon by the trial court and are therefore not preserved for appeal.” (emphasis added)). Likewise, our Supreme Court has found earlier case law that created an exception to the standard contemporaneous objection requirement in the context of a similar constitutional issue with a jury charge was “nullified” by the adoption of statutory language ensuring litigants in our state will always be afforded an opportunity—just as Appellant was—to object to a trial judge’s jury instructions during trial. Williams, 266 S.C. at 335, 223 S.E.2d at 43; see S.C. Code Ann. § 17-23-100 (“In all cases tried before a jury, other than cases in a magistrates or municipal court, after the court has delivered to the jury a charge on the law in the case, the court shall temporarily excuse the jury from the presence of counsel and litigants in order to give counsel and litigants an opportunity to express objections to the charge or request the charge of additional propositions made necessary by the charge, out of the presence of the jury.”). Furthermore, due to its effect of encouraging “sandbagging” in a manner that frustrated the goals

of the criminal justice system, our Supreme Court has since abolished the in favorem vitae doctrine and affirmed the necessity of contemporaneous objections for issue preservation in our state even in the context of capital cases. See State v. Torrence, 305 S.C. 45, 69, 406 S.E.2d 315, 328 (1991) (Toal, J., concurring in result for the majority) (“[W]e hold a contemporaneous objection is necessary *in all trials* beginning after the date of this opinion to properly preserve errors for our direct appellate review.” (emphasis added and footnote omitted)); see also I’On, 338 S.C. at 422, 526 S.E.2d at 724 (instructing our state’s issue preservation requirements prevent a party “from keeping an ace card up his sleeve—intentionally or by chance—in the hope that an appellate court will accept that ace card and, via a reversal, give him another opportunity”). Based on all those significant developments that have come since the Orr decision was issued over a century ago, it has now been abrogated and no longer constitutes controlling precedent in South Carolina assuming that never-subsequently-relied-upon decision ever did. Williams, 266 S.C. at 335, 223 S.E.2d at 43; see Rule 20(b), SCRCrimP (“Notwithstanding any request for legal instructions, the parties shall be given the opportunity to object to the giving or failure to give an instruction before the jury retires, but out of the hearing of the jury. Any objection shall state distinctly the matter objected to and the grounds for objection. Failure to object in accordance with this rule *shall constitute a waiver of objection.*” (emphasis added)); cf. State v. English, 443 S.C. 49, 56-57, 902 S.E.2d 385, 389 (2024) (recognizing an earlier appellate decision was abrogated by subsequent decisions and the adoption of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence).

Accordingly, because defense counsel not only did not object to the jury instruction Appellant now seeks to challenge on appeal but asked the trial judge to present it in the manner it was presented, Appellant’s newly-conceived appellate challenge to that jury instruction must be

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